Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: December 3, 2015 ACCEPTED: January 21, 2016 PUBLISHED: February 16, 2016

Muon g-2 in the aligned two Higgs doublet model

Tao Han,^{*a,c,d*} Sin Kyu Kang^{*b*} and Joshua Sayre^{*a*}

- ^aDepartment of Physics and Astronomy, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA 15260, U.S.A.
- ^bSchool of Liberal Arts, Seoul National University of Science and Technology, Seoul 139-743, Korea
- ^cPhysics Department, Collaborative Innovation Center of Quantum Matter, Tsinghua University, Beijing 100084, China
- ^dKorea Institute for Advanced Study, Seoul 130-722, Korea

E-mail: than.pheno@gmail.com, skkang@snut.ac.kr, jsayre@pitt.edu

ABSTRACT: We study the Two-Higgs-Doublet Model with the aligned Yukawa sector (A2HDM) in light of the observed excess measured in the muon anomalous magnetic moment. We take into account the existing theoretical and experimental constraints with up-to-date values and demonstrate that a phenomenologically interesting region of parameter space exists. With a detailed parameter scan, we show a much larger region of viable parameter space in this model beyond the limiting case Type X 2HDM as obtained before. It features the existence of light scalar states with masses 3 GeV $\lesssim m_H \lesssim 50$ GeV, or 10 GeV $\lesssim m_A \lesssim 130$ GeV, with enhanced couplings to tau leptons. The charged Higgs boson is typically heavier, with 200 GeV $\lesssim m_{H^+} \lesssim 630$ GeV. The surviving parameter space is forced into the CP-conserving limit by EDM constraints. Some Standard Model observables may be significantly modified, including a possible new decay mode of the SM-like Higgs boson to four taus. We comment on future measurements and direct searches for those effects at the LHC as tests of the model.

KEYWORDS: Higgs Physics, Beyond Standard Model

ARXIV EPRINT: 1511.05162



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Brief review of A2HDM	2
3	Constraints on A2HDM	
	3.1 Precision EW data	5
	3.2 B meson rare decays	5
	3.3 Lepton universality	6
	3.4 Heavy quarkonium decay	7
	3.5 Bounds from SM-like Higgs searches at the LHC	8
	3.6 Bounds from non-SM searches at the LHC	8
	3.7 Measurements of $(g-2)_{\mu}$	8
4	Results of the numerical scan	9
	4.1 $(g-2)_{\mu}$ in the CP-conserving A2HDM	10
	4.2 $(g-2)_{\mu}$ in the CP-violating A2HDM	14
5	Modifications of SM observables	15
	5.1 Deviations of the SM-like Higgs couplings	15
	5.2 Precision observables in the SM	18
6	Searches for new Higgs states	19
7	Summary and conclusions	21
\mathbf{A}	Calculation of muon $g-2$	23

1 Introduction

After the discovery of a Higgs boson with mass around 125 GeV [1–4], the ATLAS and CMS collaborations have continued to accumulate data and measured the detailed properties of this new particle. Within the attainable accuracy, they appear consistent with the elementary Higgs boson of the Standard Model (SM). This milestone discovery strongly encourages the exploration for new physics, in particular the search for a richer structure of the Higgs sector beyond the SM. Although no clear indication exists yet for new physics beyond the SM, this search will be actively pursued at the LHC and elsewhere.

The apparent discrepancy with a 3-4 sigma deviation between the theoretical [5-15]and measured [16] values of the muon anomalous magnetic moment $(g-2)_{\mu}$ is a longstanding puzzle which may point to new physics [17-19, 21].¹ The possibility that the observed excess in $(g-2)_{\mu}$ can be explained by an extended Higgs sector has been raised by several authors [22-28].² Extended Higgs sectors arise in a variety of new physics scenarios, including supersymmetry, Grand Unified Theories, dark matter models, flavor models, and others. A feature common to many models, and one of the simplest extensions, is the addition of a second Higgs doublet. We thus will focus on a general formulation of the two-Higgsdoublet-model (2HDM) [30-40] in this work in the hope to reach some general conclusions.

2HDMs have been extensively studied in the past, most often in the context of global flavor symmetries and with the assumption of no new sources of CP violation. In this paper we focus on an interesting broader formulation, the Aligned Two Higgs Doublet Model (A2HDM) [41, 42, 44, 46–49]. We find that the A2HDM can account for the experimental value of $(g - 2)_{\mu}$ [16]. However, it can only account for such an excess in a very restricted range of the otherwise-allowed parameter space. In particular, mixing between the new states and the SM Higgs boson must be very small, one of the new neutral states must be quite light, the new states will couple strongly to taus, and CP-violating effects must be negligible.

The paper is organized as follows: we describe the A2HDM model for our study in section 2, and then present the current experimental bounds on the model parameters in section 3. Accounting for these constraints, we perform a detailed multiple-dimensional parameter scan in light of the $(g - 2)_{\mu}$ excess, and show our main results in section 4. We discuss the physical implication of these results on SM observables in section 5 and comment on direct searches for the new Higgs states at the LHC in section 6. In section 7, we draw our conclusions. An appendix is provided to summarize our $(g - 2)_{\mu}$ calculation in the A2HDM model.

2 Brief review of A2HDM

For two $SU(2)_L$ Higgs doublets with hyper-charge one, we can redefine a theoretical basis by rotating the doublets according to a global U(2) transformation [43]. We choose to work in the Higgs basis in which only one doublet, H_1 , contains the SM electroweak symmetry breaking vacuum expectation value (vev) [45]:

$$\langle H_1^0 \rangle = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \langle H_2^0 \rangle = 0.$$
 (2.1)

The scalar potential can then be expressed using Higgs basis fields as follows:

$$V = Y_1 H_1^{\dagger} H_1 + Y_2 H_2^{\dagger} H_2 + [Y_3 H_1^{\dagger} H_2 + h.c] + \frac{1}{2} Z_1 (H_1^{\dagger} H_1)^2 + \frac{1}{2} Z_2 (H_2^{\dagger} H_2)^2 + Z_3 (H_1^{\dagger} H_1) (H_2^{\dagger} H_2) + Z_4 (H_1^{\dagger} H_2) (H_2^{\dagger} H_1)$$

¹See also ref. [20] and references therein.

²For a review on BSM theories related to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ see e.g. ref. [29].

$$+\left\{\frac{1}{2}Z_5(H_1^{\dagger}H_2)^2 + [Z_6(H_1^{\dagger}H_1) + Z_7(H_2^{\dagger}H_2)]H_1^{\dagger}H_2 + h.c\right\},\tag{2.2}$$

where Y_1, Y_2 and $Z_{1,2,3,4}$ are real-valued and invariant in this basis, whereas Y_3 and $Z_{5,6,7}$ are complex "pseudo-invariants". The pseudo-invariants can be re-phased by the U(1) transformation $H_2 \rightarrow e^{i\chi}H_2$. The SM-like minimization condition for the scalar potential requires

$$Y_1 = -\frac{1}{2}Z_1v^2, \quad Y_3 = -\frac{1}{2}Z_6v^2.$$
 (2.3)

The neutral Higgs boson mass-eigenstates can be determined by diagonalizing a 3×3 squared-mass matrix given by

$$M^{2} = v^{2} \begin{pmatrix} Z_{1} & \operatorname{Re}(Z_{6}e^{-i\theta_{23}}) & -\operatorname{Im}(Z_{6}e^{-i\theta_{23}}) \\ \operatorname{Re}(Z_{6}e^{-i\theta_{23}}) & A^{2}/v^{2} + \operatorname{Re}(Z_{5}e^{-2i\theta_{23}}) & -\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Im}(Z_{5}e^{-2i\theta_{23}}) \\ -\operatorname{Im}(Z_{6}e^{-i\theta_{23}}) & -\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Im}(Z_{5}e^{-2i\theta_{23}}) & A^{2}/v^{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.4)$$

where $A^2 \equiv Y_2 + \frac{1}{2}[Z_3 + Z_4 - \operatorname{Re}(Z_5 e^{-2i\theta_{23}})]v^2$. The diagonalizing matrix R,

$$RM^2R^T = M_D^2 = \text{diag}[m_1^2, m_2^2, m_3^2], \qquad (2.5)$$

can be written as

$$R = \begin{pmatrix} c_{12}c_{13} - s_{12} - c_{12}s_{13} \\ s_{12}c_{13} & c_{12} - s_{12}s_{13} \\ s_{13} & 0 & c_{13} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.6)

where $c_{ij} = \cos \theta_{ij}$ and $s_{ij} = \sin \theta_{ij}$. In general θ_{23} appears in the diagonalizing matrix R' for the matrix M' in some particular pseudo-invariant basis. Under the rephasing $H_2 \rightarrow e^{i\chi}H_2$, however, $\theta_{23} \rightarrow \theta_{23} - \chi$ [50]. Thus R and M as written are invariant and we may use the remaining freedom in our choice of basis to eliminate θ_{23} , which has no physical significance. Here, we choose a convention where $-\frac{1}{2}\pi \leq \theta_{12}, \theta_{13} < \frac{1}{2}\pi$. We will identify one of the mass eigenstates as the observed SM-like Higgs near 125 GeV. The charged Higgs mass is given by

$$m_{H^{\pm}}^2 = Y_2 + \frac{1}{2}Z_3 v^2.$$
(2.7)

The Higgs couplings to the fermions can be written as

$$-L_{Y} = \bar{U}_{L} \left(\kappa^{u} H_{1}^{0\dagger} + \rho^{u} H_{2}^{0\dagger} \right) U_{R} - \bar{D}_{L} K^{\dagger} \left(\kappa^{u} H_{1}^{-} + \rho^{u} H_{2}^{-} \right) U_{R} + \bar{D}_{L} \left(\kappa^{d\dagger} H_{1}^{0\dagger} + \rho^{d\dagger} H_{2}^{0\dagger} \right) D_{R} - \bar{U}_{L} K \left(\kappa^{d\dagger} H_{1}^{+} + \rho^{d\dagger} H_{2}^{+} \right) D_{R} + \bar{L}_{L} \left(\kappa^{l\dagger} H_{1}^{0\dagger} + \rho^{l\dagger} H_{2}^{0\dagger} \right) L_{R} - \bar{\nu}_{L} \left(\kappa^{l\dagger} H_{1}^{+} + \rho^{l\dagger} H_{2}^{+} \right) L_{R}.$$
(2.8)

where K is the CKM matrix and $\kappa^i = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{v} M_i$ is proportional to the diagonal SM masses

$$M_U = \text{diag}[m_u, m_c, m_t], \quad M_D = \text{diag}[m_d, m_s, m_b], \quad M_L = \text{diag}[m_e, m_\mu, m_\tau].$$
 (2.9)

	$A_u = A_d$	$A_u = -(A_d^*)^{-1}$
$A_l = A_d$	Type I	Type II
$A_{l} = -(A_{d}^{*})^{-1}$	Type X	Type Y

Table 1. Parameter relations corresponding to models with a discrete symmetry.

The A2HDM is defined by the relation [41, 42, 44, 46-49]

$$\rho_i = A_i^* \kappa_i \tag{2.10}$$

where A_i is a potentially complex number. Thus the Yukawa couplings of the two Higgs doublets are aligned³ in that they are proportional to each other and can be simultaneously diagonalized, which ensures that flavor changing neutral currents (FCNCs) do not arise at tree level. The A2HDM is thus an example of Minimal Flavor Violation [56, 57]. FCNC effects will develop from loop diagrams involving the charged Higgs, which always depend on powers of the CKM matrix. The often studied discrete Z_2 2HDMs can be understood as special cases of this model which correspond with the relations among the A_i parameters summarized in table 1. In these cases, the ratio of Yukawa couplings allows us to rotate to a basis where the symmetry is manifest and only one doublet couples to each fermion type (up, down and lepton, respectively). In such cases, $|A_u|$ is equivalent to $\cot \beta \equiv v_1/v_2$, the ratio of vevs in that basis.

In the 2HDM, CP is potentially broken in the scalar potential and vacuum as well as in the neutral Higgs Yukawa interactions. CP is preserved if the following terms are real [50]

$$Z_5(Z_6^*)^2, \quad Z_6Z_7^*, \quad Z_5(\rho^i)^2, \quad Z_6\rho^i, \quad Z_7\rho^i,$$
 (2.11)

where i = u, d and l. In our chosen basis this is equivalent to setting $Z_5, Z_6, Z_7, A_u, A_d, A_l$ to be real and it implies that $s_{13} = 0$.

Details of the general CP-violating A2HDM and calculations relevant to our scan can be found in a forthcoming publication ref. [58].

3 Constraints on A2HDM

There exist a number of relevant theoretical and experimental constraints on the A2HDM. For theoretical considerations, we require that the quartic coupling parameters Z_i satisfy the partial-wave unitarity bounds, which are taken from the appendix of [50]. We also require that the SM-like electroweak symmetry breaking vev be at a local minimum, and that the potential be positive at large field values. For convenience, we set the parameter $Z_2 = 4\pi$, corresponding to the maximum value allowed by partial-wave unitarity. Z_2 does not enter any of our phenomenological considerations so we choose a value that contributes maximally to the stability of the potential.

On the experimental side, we take the following results into account:

³Note that this alignment is different from the "alignment limit" discussed in certain literature which corresponds with small mixing between H_1 and H_2 [51–55].

3.1 Precision EW data

We directly impose the LEP bound on the charged Higgs mass [59]

$$m_{H^{\pm}} \ge 80 \,\text{GeV}.\tag{3.1}$$

For other searches applicable to exotic Higgs, we make use of the program HiggsBounds [60], which checks for exclusion of potential signals at the 95% level incorporating a large number of searches from the LEP, Tevatron, LHC and other experiments. We also check for compatibility with the Peskin-Takeuchi S, T and U parameters [61] at the Z pole. Experimentally, the allowed values for these parameters are [59]

$$S = -0.03 \pm 0.10, \quad T = 0.01 \pm 0.12, \quad U = 0.05 \pm 0.10.$$
 (3.2)

A further constraint of interest for the large $|A_l|$ values we allow comes from measurements of the $Z\tau\bar{\tau}$ coupling measured at the Z pole. This is characterized by effective couplings g_{τ}^L and g_{τ}^R which have been determined to high precision. Experimentally they are found to be [62]:

$$g_{\tau}^{L} = -0.26930 \pm 0.00058, \quad g_{\tau}^{R} = 0.23208 \pm 0.00062.$$
 (3.3)

SM best fit predictions based on precision data yield [59]

$$g_{\tau}^{L}(SM) = -0.26919 \pm 0.0002, \quad g_{\tau}^{R}(SM) = 0.23274 \pm 0.0002.$$
 (3.4)

Our calculation for the effects of the new Higgs states is based on ref. [63].

3.2 *B* meson rare decays

Typically, some of the strongest experimental constraints on the 2HDM come from flavor physics [64–71]. Although highly suppressed in the SM, FCNCs are experimentally observed and provide stringent constraints on new physics. The A2HDM guarantees that tree-level FCNCs vanish, but they will appear at the loop level [72]. We make use of the NLO prediction of $BR(B \to X_s \gamma)$ in the 2HDM available from the SusyBSG code provided by the authors of ref. [73]. The numerical estimation of $BR(B \to X_s \gamma)$ has been performed up to NNLO for the SM [74]. The most updated SM prediction is

$$BR(b \to s\gamma)|_{\rm SM} = (3.15 \pm 0.23) \times 10^{-4}.$$
 (3.5)

The most recent average of experimental data on $b \to s\gamma$ rate gives [59]

$$BR(b \to s\gamma)|_{\exp} = (3.43 \pm 0.22) \times 10^{-4}.$$
 (3.6)

NNLO corrections for the 2HDM are discussed in ref. [75].

A second rare decay of interest is $B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-$. This decay is of high theoretical significance and may receive contributions from both charged and neutral Higgs bosons in the A2HDM via box and penguin diagrams. Details of the calculation can be found in ref. [76]. The SM prediction works out to be

$$BR(B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{\rm SM} = (3.67 \pm 0.25) \times 10^{-9}.$$
 (3.7)

Measurements of this decay have been made at both LHCb [77] and CMS [78] and found to be consistent with the SM expectation. The combined result can be expressed in a ratio for comparison with the Standard Model:

$$R_{B_s \to \mu\mu} \equiv \frac{BR(B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{\exp}}{BR(B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-)_{SM}} = 0.79 \pm 0.20.$$
(3.8)

3.3 Lepton universality

Many additional flavor phenomena can potentially be affected by new physics in the A2HDM. A large selection of relevant processes is analyzed in ref. [41, 42, 44, 46–49] in the A2HDM under the assumption that the charged scalar H^+ provides the dominant effects. These include leptonic tau decays, leptonic decays of heavy mesons such as $B \to \tau \nu$ and $D_{(s)} \to \mu(\tau)\nu$, measurements of $Z \to b\bar{b}$, $B^0 - \bar{B^0}$ mixing and $K^0 - \bar{K^0}$ mixing. These can be translated into constraints at 95% confidence on the charged Higgs mass and fermion couplings as follows:

$$|A_l| < 0.4M_{H^+}; \qquad |A_u| < 0.56 + 2.65 \cdot 10^{-3}M_{H^+} - 1.05 \cdot 10^{-6}M_{H^+}^2 + 6.15 \cdot 10^{-10}M_{H^+}^3; |A_l^*A_u| < 0.005M_{H^+}^2; \quad -0.036M_{H^+}^2 < A_l^*A_d < 0.008M_{H^+}^2 \quad \text{(for real Yukawa couplings).}$$
(3.9)

The most relevant of these limits for our purposes is the first, which comes from tests of lepton flavor universality in tau decays. In particular, it derives from the ratio of tau decay widths $\overline{\Gamma}(\tau \to \mu\nu\overline{\nu})/\overline{\Gamma}(\tau \to e\nu\overline{\nu})$, where $\overline{\Gamma}$ indicates the partial width normalized to its SM value. This ratio is equivalent to the ratio of fitted effective coupling parameters $(g_{\mu}/g_e)^2$ given by the HFAG collaboration [79]. In ref. [26], the authors make use of the additional fitted value $(g_{\tau}/g_e)^2$ which can be translated into the ratio $\overline{\Gamma}(\tau \to \mu\nu\overline{\nu})/\overline{\Gamma}(\mu \to e\nu\overline{\nu})$. The most recent HFAG fits to purely leptonic decays are

$$\frac{g_{\mu}}{g_e} = 0.0018 \pm 0.0014, \qquad \frac{g_{\tau}}{g_e} = 0.0029 \pm 0.0015, \qquad \frac{g_{\tau}}{g_{\mu}} = 0.0011 \pm 0.0015.$$
 (3.10)

Neglecting the electron Yukawa coupling, only $\tau \to \mu \nu$ is altered by the tree-level charged Higgs graph. Within the measured bounds of the Michel parameters which characterize the decay distribution, the only allowable effects from the tree-level charged Higgs will tend to decrease $\Gamma(\tau \to \mu \nu \overline{\nu})$. Thus the bound depends strongly on the fact that the current fit to $(g_{\tau}/g_e)^2$ is almost a 2σ excess over the Standard Model while the charged Higgs gives small negative corrections.

In light of this, ref. [26] includes the leading one-loop effects from the new Higgs states which tend to decrease the coupling of $W\tau\nu$. The one-loop effect applies equally to both tau decays. Hence, the ratio g_{μ}/g_e is only affected by the tree-level Higgs graph, while g_{τ}/g_e should include both tree-level and leading one-loop effects. They exclude parameters which exceed the 95% confidence limits on the combined fit, accounting for correlations in the data. We adopt their calculation of the one-loop effects, which is consistent with ref. [80].

In principle we may work with the ratio g_{τ}/g_{μ} instead of g_{τ}/g_e since only two of the ratios in eq. (3.10) are independent. The ratio g_{τ}/g_{μ} is equivalent to $\overline{\Gamma}(\tau \to e\nu\overline{\nu})/\overline{\Gamma}(\mu \to e\nu\overline{\nu})$ and receives a negative correction from the one-loop graphs but not from the tree-level

decay channel	ATLAS	CMS
$\gamma\gamma$	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF} = 1.32 \pm 0.38 \ [85]$	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF+ttH} = 1.07^{+0.37}_{-0.31} \ [86, \ 87]$
	$\hat{\mu}^{\rm VBF} = 0.8 \pm 0.7 \ [85]$	$\hat{\mu}^{\text{VBF}} = 1.24^{+0.63}_{-0.58} \ [86, 87]$
WW	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF} = 1.02^{+0.29}_{-0.26} \ [88]$	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF} = 0.87^{+0.21}_{-0.21} \ [87, \ 90]$
	$\hat{\mu}^{\text{VBF}} = 1.27^{+0.53}_{-0.45} \ [89]$	$\hat{\mu}^{\text{VBF}} = 0.66^{+0.5}_{-0.46} \ [87, \ 90]$
ZZ	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF+ttH} = 1.7^{+0.5}_{-0.4} \ [91]$	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF+ttH} = 0.88^{+0.46}_{-0.36} \ [87, \ 92]$
	$\hat{\mu}^{\text{VBF}+VH} = 0.3^{+1.6}_{-0.9} \ [91]$	$\hat{\mu}^{\text{VBF}+VH} = 1.75^{+2.2}_{-2.1} \ [87, \ 92]$
au au	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF} = 2.0^{+1.47}_{-1.17} \ [93]$	$\hat{\mu}^{ggF} = 0.52 \pm 0.4 \ [87, \ 94]$
	$\hat{\mu}^{\text{VBF}+VH} = 1.24^{+0.59}_{-0.54} \ [93]$	$\hat{\mu}^{\text{VBF}} = 1.21 \pm 0.5 \; [87, 94]$
$bar{b}$	$\hat{\mu}^{VH} = 0.52^{+0.4}_{-0.4} \ [95]$	$\hat{\mu}^{VH} = 0.85 \pm 0.5 \ [87, \ 96]$

Table 2. Summary of the LHC Higgs signals at 7 and 8 TeV.

charged Higgs. Hence, the strength of the bound comes from the fact that both g_{τ}/g_{μ} and g_{μ}/g_e are high in the purely leptonic fits. However, HFAG also provides fits to g_{τ}/g_{μ} from $\overline{\Gamma}(\tau \to h\nu)/\overline{\Gamma}(h \to \mu\overline{\nu})$ where $h = K, \pi$, which are found to be low compared to the SM expectation. These ratios should also be affected by the one loop corrections but not the tree level term since we neglect the Higgs coupling to light quarks. The combined fit is then reported as [79]

$$\left(\frac{g_{\tau}}{g_{\mu}}\right)_{\tau+\pi+K} = 0.0001 \pm 0.0014. \tag{3.11}$$

We use this number to constrain the one loop corrections at 95% confidence and g_{μ}/g_e to constrain the tree-level charged Higgs correction. This gives a weaker exclusion than the purely leptonic fits.

We note that there is currently a mild excess in the experimental fits to $B \to D^{(*)} \tau \nu_{\tau}$ and $B \to \tau \nu_{\tau}$ which we do not attempt to explain. In ref. [81] the authors argue that such excesses cannot be explained by the A2HDM while remaining consistent with other data.

3.4 Heavy quarkonium decay

As will be seen, our results allow for rather light new neutral scalars which may have a non-negligible coupling to heavy quarks. For scalars with masses below 10 GeV we consider bounds from measurements of rare Υ decays. In particular, the branching fraction for $\Upsilon(1S) \rightarrow \gamma \mu^+ \mu^-$ with a narrow resonance in $\mu^+ \mu^-$ and similarly for $\Upsilon(3S) \rightarrow \gamma \tau^+ \tau^$ can constrain the coupling of new light scalars to *b* quarks [82]. Based on refs. [83, 84] we impose the following limits:

$$BR(\Upsilon(1S) \to \gamma \phi) \times BR(\phi \to \mu^+ \mu^-) < 10^{-6} \times (m_{\phi}/\text{GeV}), \qquad (3.12)$$

$$BR(\Upsilon(3S) \to \gamma\phi) \times BR(\phi \to \tau^+\tau^-) < 3 \times 10^{-5}.$$
(3.13)

3.5 Bounds from SM-like Higgs searches at the LHC

Experimental measurements of the Higgs boson properties at the LHC have been typically characterized by the so-called signal strength modifiers defined by $\hat{\mu}^i = \sigma^i / \sigma_{\rm SM}$. The recent measured values of the signal strength modifiers for each channel under consideration are summarized in table 2, where the superscripts of the signal strength modifiers denote the production channels of the Higgs boson.

We perform a global χ^2 fit of the model predictions to the observed Higgs signal strengths $\hat{\mu}^i$. We assume each channel listed can be treated as an independent measurement, giving us 18 degrees of freedom from the LHC measurements as listed in table 2. Note that some analyses in the literature give separate fits to associated (VH) and vectorboson fusion (VBF) production. In a given model, they are not independent. In our treatment we use the combined fit, taking into account the fact that these two processes are determined by the scalar mixing parameter θ_{12} for both Ws and Zs. Similarly, some analyses have performed a fit to associated top quark $(t\bar{t}H)$ production, but at present these have large error bars and we choose to use the combined fit with gluon-gluon fusion (ggF) when appropriate since the latter is dominated by the top quark loop. We require a predicted χ^2 value consistent with experiment at the 95% level.

In the framework of the A2HDM, the SM-like Higgs boson could decay to two lighter states when kinematically accessible, which then subsequently decay to four taus. An estimate of exclusion limits for such decays based on recast 3-lepton searches was made in ref. [97]. They found that $BR(h \to AA \to 4\tau) < 25\%$ for $m_A > 30$ GeV, with weaker bounds for $m_A < 30$ GeV. Recently, CMS has presented a search for this decay mode with boosted kinematics for the As which excludes $BR(h \to AA \to 4\tau) \gtrsim 25\%$ in the range $8 < m_A < 15$ [98]. The light states may also decay to muons which makes the process sensitive to bounds from $h \to AA \to 2\tau 2\mu$ searches. It turns out that these limits have become the strongest for lower masses with $BR(h \to AA) \lesssim 10\%$ for $m_A \sim 10$ GeV [99]. If the new particles are too light to decay to taus then we expect them to decay largely to muons, which is bounded by experiment to be less than ~ 1 fb [100]. We include these limits as a constraint on our results.

3.6 Bounds from non-SM searches at the LHC

Additional scalar particles introduce the possibility of many exotic signals as the LHC and other experiments. In general we employ the HiggsBounds code to check for consistency of our model with experiment. However, we have directly incorporated limits from two recent updates which are particularly pertinent to the A2HDM with large $(g-2)_{\mu}$. One is the direct search for $gg \to H/A \to \tau \overline{\tau}$ [101]. The second is the search for $pp \to (H/A) \to$ $(A/H)Z \to 2\tau 2l$ [102].

3.7 Measurements of $(g-2)_{\mu}$

The SM value of the muon anomalous magnetic moment has been calculated up to five-loop contributions in QED [5] and two-loop in weak interactions [6-15]. Among the diagrams, the hadronic contributions are particularly challenging to reliably estimate [20]. The cur-



Figure 1. Representative Feynman diagrams in 2HDM contributing to $(g-2)_{\mu}$.

rent SM prediction for $a_{\mu}^{\text{SM}} \equiv (g-2)_{\mu}/2$ results in a $(3-4)\sigma$ deviation from the experimental result from Brookhaven E821 [16, 20]

$$\Delta a_{\mu} \equiv (a_{\mu}^{\text{EXP}} - a_{\mu}^{\text{SM}}) = (261 \pm 78) \times 10^{-11}.$$
(3.14)

In the SM, the Higgs contribution to a_{μ} is suppressed by a factor of m_{μ}^2/m_h^2 compared to the electroweak contributions [7–15]. However, the Higgs sector contributions to a_{μ} can be considerably enhanced in a 2HDM. The significance of the a_{μ} constraint for 2HDMs was emphasized in refs. [22, 103, 104]. Representative Feynman diagrams in the A2HDM contributing to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ are depicted in figure 1. New Higgs bosons may contribute to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ at leading order at the one-loop level. However, for a Higgs boson mass larger than ~ 10 GeV, dominant Higgs contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ come from the two-loop Barr-Zee diagram with a fermion in the loop [105]. It is also known that in the CP-conserving 2HDM of Type X, a light pseudo-scalar, together with a large tan β value can explain the measured Δa_{μ} via such diagrams [22–26]. Recently, the importance of additional contributions arising from charged Higgs bosons in the A2HDM has been emphasized in ref. [106]. We include these in our predictions.

4 Results of the numerical scan

We perform a scan over the free parameters of the Higgs potential and Yukawa couplings. As mentioned above, without constraining our results Z_2 is fixed at 4π . We randomly generate points with a flat distribution over the range for each parameter allowed by unitarity and consistent with positive eigenvalues for the masses, specifically,⁴

$$0 < |A_u| < 1.2, \quad 0 < |A_d| < 50, \quad 0 < |A_l| < 120, \tag{4.1}$$

 $^{^{4}}$ Note these conditions are necessary but not sufficient and we make additional checks to ensure that a generated point satisfies our requirements.

$$0 < Z_1 < 4\pi, \ -\sqrt{Z_1 Z_2} < Z_3 < 8\pi, \ \frac{80^2}{v^2} < \frac{Y_2}{v^2} + \frac{Z_3}{2} < 4\pi + \frac{80^2}{v^2}, \tag{4.2}$$

$$\operatorname{Max}\left[-8\pi, -2\frac{Y_2}{v^2}, \frac{125^2 - 2Y_2}{v^2} - Z_1\right] < Z_3 + Z_4 < 8\pi, \tag{4.3}$$

$$0 < |Z_5| < Min \left[2\pi, \frac{2Y_2}{v^2} + Z_3 + Z_4 \right], \ 0 < |Z_7| < 2\pi.$$

Without loss of generality we then choose $|Z_6|$ so as to guarantee that one mass sits at 125 GeV. We record generated points which pass all the constraints discussed above within 2σ of the experimental values, including the requirement that the χ^2 fit to LHC Higgs data is consistent within 95% bounds. We generate billions of points, most of which are discarded due to the stringent experimental constraints. We interpret our solutions only as representative since there may still be corners of parameter space not being fully sampled.

4.1 $(g-2)_{\mu}$ in the CP-conserving A2HDM

In the CP-conserving model there are two CP-even (h and H) and one CP-odd (A) mass eigenstates. We will label the SM-like state at 125 GeV as h. Points in the model parameter space which can facilitate a large positive Δa_{μ} correction are relatively rare. This can be understood by considering the possible source of such corrections. Except for very light Higgs, the dominant contributions to g-2 in the 2HDM come from Barr-Zee diagrams with a fermion running in the loop [105]. Large enhancements of Δa_{μ} thus require a relatively light Higgs with enhanced couplings to the muon or to the fermion in the loop. This can be achieved with large values of A_u , A_d or A_l . However, the top-quark Yukawa coupling cannot be much larger than the SM-like value of unity without becoming non-perturbative and enhancement of the the coupling would lead to large rates of $b \to s\gamma$, $B_s \to \mu^+\mu^$ and other flavor effects, as well as excessive production rates of the new Higgs bosons via gluon fusion at the LHC. Similar problems would also arise from the b-quark contributions if $|A_d| \gtrsim 40$. Generally then, one must rely on an enhanced coupling to leptons with large A_l , which increases the contribution from all loops due to the muon coupling and doubly enhances the graph with a tau loop. This implies that light new Higgs states will typically decay to taus and any mixing of the $125 \,\text{GeV}$ Higgs with the scalar from H_2 will lead to significant deviations from an SM-like coupling to taus, which is strongly constrained by current LHC results. Hence, $(g-2)_{\mu}$ forces us into the large A_l region with small mixing angle θ_{12} , which in turn requires that $Z_1 v^2$ is close to $(125 \text{ GeV})^2$ and $|Z_6|$ is small. A light Higgs with large A_l also favors small A_d so as not to violate various flavor bounds.

Note that the effect of scalars versus pseudo-scalars on $(g-2)_{\mu}$ is not as simple in the A2HDM as in the more restricted models which have been considered in the literature [23–26]. At the one-loop level it is generically true that the pseudo-scalar gives a negative contribution to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ while scalars give a positive contribution. However, at two loops the sign of the contribution depends on the relative sign of the neutral Higgs coupling to the muon and to the fermion in the loop. Both Type-II and Type-X 2HDMs have the potential to positively enhance Δa_{μ} via two-loop diagrams.⁵ In both models, however, the top quark

⁵Type-I and Type-Y models can also enhance $(g-2)_{\mu}$ in principle, but this requires large top-quark couplings which conflict with other phenomenological constraints.

loop cannot play the dominant role. This is because the pseudo-scalar A couples to the muon like $\tan \beta$ while it couples to the top like $\cot \beta$, which means that the contribution of such diagrams cannot be enhanced by the choice of $\tan \beta$. In the small mixing limit the scalar H has similar couplings. Thus only the bottom and tau loops can give a large enhancement in the Type-II model and only the taus in the Type-X model. This also fixes the sign of the potentially large contributions, so that the pseudo-scalar term is positive and the scalar H term is negative. In contrast, for the more general A2HDM model the top loop can play a crucial role such that either scalars or pseudo-scalars can generate large contributions with a positive sign. Moreover, the contributions from charged Higgs, which have often been neglected, can have either sign.

In the upper left panel of figure 2 we show the ranges for input parameters which pass our constraints. As discussed, Z_1 is largely fixed, varying within about 15% of the observed Higgs mass value $m_h^2/v^2 = 0.26$, and $|Z_6|$ is also small, ≤ 0.5 , corresponding to the low-mixing limit. Z_3 is positive and can be as large as the unitarity bound at 8π . Z_4 is negative and $|Z_5|$ is approximately of the same magnitude. Given the small mixing, this follows from the requirement that one non-SM-like neutral state be approximately degenerate with the charge Higgs mass and the other new neutral state is significantly lighter. These two conditions allow the bounds on the *T*-parameter and the large $(g-2)_{\mu}$ to be satisfied. The viable range of A_d is also much smaller than in the general case, where it can be as large as ~ 50, although it can still be mildly enhanced compared to the SM-like Yukawa coupling, up to a factor of 5 approximately.

The masses of the new neutral states which are determined from the values of Z_i are shown in the upper right panel of figure 2. We find it useful to distinguish the new neutral states by their mass ordering and adopt the notation h_1 for the lighter new neutral state and h_2 for the heavier. The SM-like Higgs at 125 GeV will remain h without a subscript. Here and henceforth, points with $m_H < m_A$ are shown as red triangles and with $m_A < m_H$ as blue circles. It is clear that there are three qualitative regions of interest:⁶

Low m_A :	$10{\rm GeV}{\lesssim}m_A{\lesssim}130{\rm GeV},$	$200{\rm GeV}{\lesssim}m_H\sim m_{H^+}{\lesssim}630{\rm GeV};$	(4.4)
Low m_H (1-Loop):	$3{\rm GeV}{\lesssim}m_H{\lesssim}20{\rm GeV},$	$200{\rm GeV}{\lesssim}m_A\sim m_{H^+}{\lesssim}630{\rm GeV};$	
Low $m_H(2\text{-Loop})$:	$30{\rm GeV}{\lesssim}m_H{\lesssim}50{\rm GeV},$	$550{\rm GeV}{\lesssim}m_A\sim m_{H^+}{\lesssim}630{\rm GeV}.$	

- In the first region, which occupies most of the allowed parameter space, the pseudoscalar is quite light, less than 130 GeV ranging down to about 10 GeV. In this low m_A region the new scalar can range from above 200 GeV up to 630 GeV and the charged Higgs has a similar mass. The correlation of the charged mass with m_{h_2} is shown in the middle left panel of figure 2. In this region, the dominant source of new $(g-2)_{\mu}$ contributions are 2-loop Barr-Zee graphs with tops or taus in the loop as in the lower left graph of figure 1.
- A second region can be seen where the scalar has a very low mass, $m_H = 3 20 \text{ GeV}$ and A is heavy, $m_A \sim 200 - 630 \text{ GeV}$. Here, the charged Higgs is approximately

⁶The relative number of points in the different regions does not directly represent the relative volume of parameter space which they occupy.



Figure 2. Upper left: from left to right, allowed ranges of Z_1 , Z_3 , Z_4 , Z_5 , Z_6 , Z_7 , $|A_u|$, $|A_d|$, and $|A_l|$. Upper right: mass of the lighter new neutral state h_1 versus the heavier new neutral state h_2 . Here and henceforth, blue circles indicate a light pseudo-scalar and red triangles a light scalar. Middle left: mass of the heavy new state h_2 versus the charged Higgs H^{\pm} . Middle right: comparison of m_{h_1} with $|A_l|$. Lower left: $|A_u|$ versus $|A_l|$. Lower right: $|A_u|$ versus $|A_d|$. All masses are given in GeV.

degenerate with A. The leading contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ arise at one-loop level from the top two graphs in figure 1.

• A small third region, with $(g-2)_{\mu}$ dominantly from the 2-loop Barr-Zee diagrams, can be distinguished when $m_A \gtrsim 550 \text{ GeV}$ where H is somewhat heavier, in the range $30 < m_H < 50 \text{ GeV}$.

In all regions, the upper bound on the mass of the heavier Higgs is determined by the allowed mass splitting between H and A. This splitting is largely controlled by $|Z_5|$, which is constrained by unitarity to be less than 2π .

This pattern can be understood by considering the plot of A_l versus m_{h_1} , shown in the middle right panel of figure 2. The light pseudo-scalar region can account for a large $(g-2)_{\mu}$ value with $|A_l|$ as low as ~ 25. Most solutions involve a pseudo-scalar with mass around 100 GeV, although they can be substantially lighter with a corresponding decrease on the viable range of $|A_l|$. In general the large value of $|A_l|$ means that the lighter new (pseudo) scalar decays primarily to taus. When 2-loop Barr-Zee diagrams with top loops dominate, either H or A can give a positive contribution to $(g-2)_{\mu}$. However, they are constrained by the $gg \to \phi \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ search. This is the primary constraint which disallows a heavier A. The sharp feature at $m_{h_1} = 90 \,\text{GeV}$ arises from the fact that published results on this search begin at that mass. At high values of $|A_l|$ this bound is slightly weaker than at low values since the top coupling through $|A_u|$ can be reduced while still accounting for the large Δa_{μ} . At the upper end of our allowed range for $|A_l|$ the pseudo-scalar mass can approach 130 GeV with a light charged Higgs helping to enhance $(g-2)_{\mu}$. Two light neutral particles which decay to taus and couple to quarks strongly enough to account for the magnetic moment are largely excluded. Thus when A is light, the scalar H must usually be significantly heavier, such that it can decay instead to AA, to AZ, or to top quarks. This implies that typically the heavier neutral state is above 200 GeV. This bound also follows from the approximate degeneracy between the heavier neutral state and the charged Higgs. The latter is preferably heavier than the top quark to avoid constraints from top decays.

If $|A_l|$ is large enough to generate Δa_{μ} through the tau loop alone, then in principle the quark couplings can be arbitrarily small, making the tau search from direct production irrelevant. This can be taken as the relevant limit for the Type X model. In this case, however, without the sizeable contribution of top loops to $(g-2)_{\mu}$, the pseudo-scalar must be lighter or $|A_l|$ even larger than the typical values shown in our plots. This parameter space is highly constrained by the measurements of the $Z\tau\bar{\tau}$ coupling and lepton universality. When tau loops dominate the scalar terms give a negative contribution to Δa_{μ} which must be suppressed relative to the pseudo-scalar, so a large mass splitting is still required.

The second region, with very light scalars and intermediate mass pseudo-scalars, corresponds with relatively mild enhancement of the lepton coupling, i.e. $|A_l|$ between 5 and 35. These scalars are light enough, 3 - 20 GeV, that their positive one-loop contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$, which arise from the 1-loop graphs in figure 1 can become larger than the two-loop terms which are dominant in the first region.

The third region represents the case where two-loop terms dominate, with a scalar mass in between the previous two cases. This is qualitatively somewhat similar to the first

region with the roles of A and H reversed. However, this possibility requires a larger mass splitting than in the light A scenario for two reasons. One is that the new light scalar would need SM-like coupling to the top to generate a sufficient positive contribution, and thus the limits from $gg \to \phi \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ searches are stronger. The second is that the two-loop diagrams with a tau give a negative contribution when the scalar is lighter. This can be overcome by the top loops but a larger splitting is required. With these constraints, and the upper limit on mass splitting imposed by bounds on $|Z_5|$, A is required to fall in a 550 - 630 GeV window with m_H ranging from 30 to 50 GeV and $30 < |A_l| < 50$.

We note that of the flavor constraints listed in eq. (3.9), only the first, $|A_l|/m_{H^+} < 0.4$ is relevant after applying our other requirements. As discussed in section 3, this arises from universality tests in lepton decays and we replace this simple limit with the more complete calculation involving one-loop effects and measurements of several ratios, cf. eq. (3.10). Qualitatively, one can see in figure 2 that it is most important for light pseudo-scalars when $m_H \sim m_{H^+} \sim 200 \text{ GeV}, m_A \gtrsim 100 \text{ GeV}$ and $|A_l| \gtrsim 60$.

We compare $|A_l|$ and $|A_u|$ in the lower left panel in figure 2. For the light pseudoscalars, with $m_A \sim 100 \,\text{GeV}$, $|A_l|$ and $|A_u|$ are anti-correlated. This is because, for fixed masses, high values of $|A_l|$ require a suppressed $|A_u|$ to avoid the upper $R_{B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-}$ bound, while lower values of $|A_l|$ require $|A_u| \sim 1$ to give a sufficiently large contribution to Δa_{μ} . As m_A is lowered, smaller values of $|A_u|$ are favored to avoid bounds from Higgs searches with the low mass accounting for the enhanced $(g-2)_{\mu}$ instead. For sufficiently small $|A_u|$ however, tau loops dominate and constraints from direct production, $B_s \to \mu^+\mu^-$ and $b \to s\gamma$ become unimportant. In the lower right panel of figure 2 we plot $|A_u|$ against $|A_d|$. There is an upper bound which is driven by the constraint from $b \to s\gamma$. For very light scalars, couplings become constrained by searches for rare Υ decays to $\gamma \mu^+ \mu^-$ and $\gamma \tau^+ \tau^-$. Since light scalars will decay almost entirely to these leptons, this puts a strong bound on their coupling to *b*-quarks, requiring $|A_d| < 1$. One can also see from these plots that the Type-X model limit, where $|A_d| = |A_u| = |A_l|^{-1}$, is only a small fraction of the viable A2HDM parameter space.

4.2 $(g-2)_{\mu}$ in the CP-violating A2HDM

New sources of CP violation, which are generically possible in the A2HDM, will give rise to new electric dipole moment (EDM) contributions for the electron and the neutron. Leading contributions to these dipoles are generated by Barr-Zee-type graphs which are directly analogous to those which are required to explain Δa_{μ} . Unless we have a CP-preserving symmetry which ensures that the EDM contributions cancel, they will typically be too large to agree with the experimental limit. In the CP violating case with EDM constraints imposed, the largest Δa_{μ} generated in our general scan is an order of magnitude too small to account for the lower limit of the measured value [58]. Nonetheless, although the CPconserving limit most naturally allows one to generate a large Δa_{μ} in the A2HDM, it is interesting to consider how far one can move away from this limit and still account for the experimental data.⁷

⁷See ref. [58] for details of the EDM calculation.

To investigate this we allow the parameters ϕ_u , ϕ_d , ϕ_l , $2\phi_5$, ϕ_6 and ϕ_7 to deviate from a common phase ϕ_0

$$\phi_i = \phi_0 + \delta_i \tag{4.5}$$

where each δ_i is randomly distributed within a restricted range. For $|\delta_i| < 2 \times 10^{-4}$ there is essentially no constraint from EDMs. The distribution of masses and parameter ranges is qualitatively the same as in the exact CP-conserving case. If we increase the allowed deviations to $|\delta_i| < 2 \times 10^{-3}$, then the electron EDM becomes pertinent. Roughly two thirds of model points which would otherwise be allowed are excluded by the electron EDM [58]. At this level the neutron EDM predictions are still uniformly below the measured values. For $|\delta_i| < 2 \times 10^{-2}$, approximately 98% of the sample after other cuts is excluded by the electron EDM, and a few percent of the remaining points are now excluded by the neutron EDM.

Surviving points can still be found across the larger range of individual δ_i , which suggests that sufficiently small EDMs can be accommodated by cancellations of several terms even for relatively large CP-violating phases. However, these canceling conditions become increasingly rarefied as the CP-violating phases grow. Without some principle which enforces such cancellations, we regard them as highly fine-tuned. Thus, while an explanation for the observed $(g - 2)_{\mu}$ in the A2HDM does not strictly rule out significant new sources of CP-violation, they appear highly unnatural in this model. We will leave further discussions to a later publication [58].

5 Modifications of SM observables

5.1 Deviations of the SM-like Higgs couplings

The solutions to the $(g-2)_{\mu}$ excess in the A2HDM rely on the relatively light new neutral states, which in turn modify certain SM observables. We first consider modifications to the SM Higgs properties at the observed 125 GeV resonance. The range of predicted coupling strengths κ_i , defined by $\kappa_i \equiv g_i/g_i^{SM}$ is shown in figure 3 compared with the χ^2 fit. As expected, deviations are driven by the large values of $|A_l|$, which are apparent in the potentially large modifications of κ_{τ} . One can see that κ_{τ} may even vanish without violating our bound on the combined fit to data, although this is disfavored by the $\tau\tau$ channel itself. The fit to LHC data directly limits these excursions, which in turn requires that the mixing angle θ_{12} is small. This mixing determines κ_V , which is thus constrained to be very close to 1. We find $\kappa_V > 0.998$, except for the case of very light scalars, which may accomodate $\kappa_V > 0.982$. In either case, this is much more restrictive than the current or even expected limits from direct fits to κ_V . This is equivalent to a mixing angle between the two scalar states of $\sin \theta_{12} < 0.06$ (0.19 for very light scalars.) Since mixing is constrained to be so small and since the enhancement of other Yukawa couplings cannot be as large as $|A_l|$, we don't see large deviations in the other tree level couplings. In general κ_b can vary by about 10% relative to the Standard Model. The effective coupling to $\gamma\gamma$ and to γZ is typically enhanced by a few percent, although the former can be as large as 40% high and the latter as large as 10% high. In the case of light scalars only 1-5% deviations are



Figure 3. Distribution of signal strengths versus χ^2 . From left to right at top: κ_b , κ_τ ; at middle: κ_V , $\kappa_{\gamma\gamma}$; at bottom: κ_g , $\kappa_{Z\gamma}$.

expected for the $\gamma\gamma$ and γZ couplings. The coupling to gluons is predicted to be within a few percent of the Standard Model value with ~ 10% deviations possible with light scalars.

With these relatively mild deviations, the variance in χ^2 values strongly tracks the fit to $\tau \overline{\tau}$ data. The best fit value is $\chi^2 \simeq 8$, well within the 1σ expectation for the number of degrees of freedom (18). For comparison the Standard Model value in our fit is $\chi^2_{SM} \simeq 13$. The total width of the SM-like Higgs boson can differ in our results in the range 3.5-7 MeV. The upper range comes from decays to pseudo-scalar pairs. As discussed above, we limit these to a 25% branching fraction based on three-lepton searches for $h_1 > 30$ GeV and lighter masses are constrained by published results. The χ^2 fit by itself would rule out values higher than $\sim 50\%$.



Figure 4. Branching fraction for the SM-like Higgs boson to two light Higgs states versus the fitted χ^2 (left panel) and m_{h_1} (right panel).



Figure 5. Left: range of the S and T parameters predicted in the CP-conserving A2HDM. Right: comparison of predicted values for $BR(b \to s\gamma)$ and $R_{B_s \to \mu^+\mu^-}$.

Figure 4 shows the achievable branching fraction for the SM-like Higgs boson decay to two light Higgs states versus the fitted χ^2 (left panel), and m_{h_1} (right panel). We note that, for $m_{h_1} < 115 \text{ GeV}$, a significant branching fraction is possible for the SM-like Higgs boson h to decay via two A's or two H's into four taus. This can be as high as the imposed limit of 25% for $m_A \sim 110 \text{ GeV}$, even though the off-shell A suppression is strong, due to the possibly large values of the hAA coupling and $|A_l|$. It is thus strongly motivated to search for the exotic decay of the SM-like Higgs boson to 4τ 's at the LHC experiments. For low masses of h_1 the branching ratio is restricted by experimental searches, particularly by $h \to AA \to$ $2\tau 2\mu$. Below the 2τ threshold muon decays tend to dominate and only a very small branching fractions of $h \to AA$ is allowed, so that $m_{h_1} < 3 \text{ GeV}$ does not appear in our scan. However, it is typically possible to arrange a partial cancellation of the terms which contribute to the hAA coupling, leading to arbitrarily small branching fractions. Thus it is possible to allow for lighter h_1 masses down to $\sim 1 \text{ GeV}$ if this coupling is set sufficiently small.



Figure 6. Upper left: the predicted value of Δa_{μ} versus m_{h_1} ; upper right: magnitude of the deviations from SM couplings of $Z\tau\tau$ of δg_{τ}^L versus δg_{τ}^R ; lower left: δg_{τ}^L versus $|A_l|$. Lower right: δg_{τ}^R versus $|A_l|$.

5.2 Precision observables in the SM

In figure 5 we show predictions for the EW precision parameters S and T in the left panel, and the ratio $R_{B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-}$ versus the branching fraction $BR(b \to s\gamma)$ on the right. As in the CP-violating case the experimental value for S is not a significant constraint, although it is predicted to have a negative shift relative to the SM value S = 0. Predicted values of Uare similarly within the experimental error, however, T is strongly constraining from either direction. Turning to rare decays, $b \to s\gamma$ is a relevant constraint in general, although light scalars seem to prefer a central value. $R_{B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-}$ is also an important bound on the allowed space, with an interesting distribution. The central experimental value is currently about one standard deviation below the SM value, whereas most of the light pseudo-scalar and all of the light scalar points are above it. If it were truly as low as R < 0.85 then only a few points with $m_H^0 \simeq m_H^+ \simeq 200 \text{ GeV}$ would survive. We also note that such points are relatively even rarer in the CP-violating case without $(g-2)_{\mu}$ [58].

As for Δa_{μ} itself, values at the lower bound of the experimental range are most common in our results. Nonetheless, much of the range of experimentally consistent results can be explained by the model for the regions with very light scalars or with light pseudo-scalars, although points above the central value are quite rare. We show the predicted value of Δa_{μ} versus the mass parameter m_{h_1} after all constraints have been implemented in the upper-left panel of figure 6. The E989 experiment at Fermilab is expected to improve experimental errors on the $(g-2)_{\mu}$ measurement by a factor of four [107].

In the upper-right panel of figure 6, we display the predicted values for $\delta g_{\tau}^{L,R}$. The magnitudes of the left and right-handed couplings are strongly correlated with $\delta g_{\tau}^{L} > 0$ and $\delta g_{\tau}^{R} < 0$. This is opposite to the small shifts from Standard Model predictions found experimentally. In particular, since g_{τ}^{R} is high by roughly one standard deviation, it provides an important constraint on our model. In the lower panels of figure 6, we display the predicted coupling shifts as a function of $|A_{l}|$. One can see that the measured value of g_{τ}^{R} becomes a significant bound for $|A_{l}| > 50$ and excludes a significant fraction of otherwise viable points. Since δg_{τ}^{L} is highly correlated with g_{τ}^{R} and the experimental fit for the latter is closer to the SM, δg_{τ}^{L} does not impose any relevant additional constraint.

6 Searches for new Higgs states

Going beyond the direct search for the exotic decay of the SM-like Higgs boson $h \to h_1 h_1 \to 4\tau$ at the LHC experiments, and the indirect tests by measuring the Higgs couplings, precision EW parameters, as well as the *B*-meson rare decays, an important prospect is the potential discovery of new states at the LHC. The lighter new neutral state will decay almost entirely to taus, except for the very light scalars in the second region, which may decay to taus, or to muons if they are below the tau-pair threshold. The heavier new state must typically be massive enough to decay to the lighter Higgs state or to tops in order to limit the decay to taus and to suppress negative contributions to $(g - 2)_{\mu}$, which is strongly constrained by LHC searches.

In figure 7 we present the leading branching fractions for the decay of the heavier neutral state $(h_2 = H \text{ or } A)$ and the charged Higgs (H^{\pm}) . The decays of the heavier neutral state are shown in the top four panels in figure 7. The two leading, but complementary, channels are $h_2 \rightarrow h_1 Z$, $h_1 h_1$, as shown in the two top panels of the figure. For all cases we find that the heavier new neutral state may decay to tops with at most 30% branching fraction and to taus with at most 50%, as seen in the two middle panels. In general the maximum branching fraction to taus or to $h_1 h_1$ declines at higher masses, while the fraction for decay to Zh_1 (H or A) increases. Decays to $b\bar{b}$ are relatively rare since only a mild enhancement over SM-like couplings is allowed. As seen in the two lower panels in figure 7, the charged Higgs can have a large branching fraction to $\tau \nu$ if $|A_l|$ is large which tends to dominate at lower m_{H^+} with light pseudo-scalars. At higher masses, and generally in the case of light scalars, the charged Higgs will decay primarily to Wh_1 . After accounting for these two decays any remaining fraction will be largely $H^+ \to t\bar{b}$, which may reach about 20%.

In figure 8 we show the effective coupling to gluons for h_1 and h_2 versus their respective masses, normalized to the gluon coupling of an SM-like Higgs at the same mass. We see that the couplings could be typically the order of the SM value or slightly larger for h_1 less than 90 GeV. For h_1 above 90 GeV the maximum coupling is decreasing from roughly ~ 0.7 to ~ 0.3 times the SM-like value as h_1 becomes heavier. This bound comes directly from existing searches above M_Z . Further searches for resonances decaying to taus at the LHC will thus directly impact most of the model space. A preliminary update from CMS on



Figure 7. Predicted branching fractions of heavy new states. At top: decays of the heavier neutral Higgs $h_2 \rightarrow h_1 Z$ on the left and to $h_1 h_1$ on the right, where h_1 is the lighter new neutral state. At middle: decays of h_2 to tops on the left and to taus on the right. At bottom: decays of the charged Higgs $H^{\pm} \rightarrow h_1 W$ on the left and to $\tau \nu$ on the right.

such searches, which we have included, already significantly impacts our results [101, 108]. Given that searches for multiple tau final states are complicated, one can also consider final states involving a muon pair since the light neutral state will have a small but non-vanishing branching fraction $BR(\mu\mu) \sim 0.1\%$. For very light scalars this fraction can become much higher. One can also search for the heavy partner h_2 , decaying either to $\tau\tau$, to $Z\tau\tau$, or to 4τ . As shown in the right panel of figure 8, h_2 may have gluon couplings between ~ 0.01 and ~ 1 compared to the SM-like case. The updated search for $h_2 \to h_1 Z \to \tau\tau ll$ already limits our surviving points and future results will directly impact the model [102].



Figure 8. The effective couplings of h_1 (left) and h_2 (right) to gluons κ_g as a function of mass, where κ_g is normalized to the gluon coupling of a SM Higgs boson at the same mass.

For many of our viable points, the leading production mechanisms for new states at hadron colliders are associated with the heavy quarks

$$gg \to H/A \quad \text{and} \quad b\bar{b} \to H/A, \quad gb \to tH^{\pm}.$$
 (6.1)

The gluon-fusion channel will continue to be a leading search mode at the LHC. However, given the wide range of the possible κ_g values as seen in figure 8, more quantitative evaluation would be needed to draw a conclusion for the observability of those states at the LHC. The *b*-associated channel can be mildly enhanced when $|A_d| > 1$, but the *t*-associated channel will be suppressed due to $|A_u| < 1$.

A second production mechanism is through the electroweak pair production channels

$$q\bar{q}' \to W^{\pm} \to H^{\pm}A, \ H^{\pm}H, \ H^{\pm}h, \quad \text{and} \quad q\bar{q} \to Z \to AH, \ Ah.$$
 (6.2)

The charged current channel $W^{\pm} \to H^{\pm}A$ is via the pure SU(2) gauge interaction independent of other model parameters, and the process $Z \to AH$ is also close to the full EW strength due to the small h - H mixing. By the same token, production of h via these modes is quite small. These channels have the advantage of being present even if the quark couplings are small. It is conceivable to search for $Z^* \to AH \to 4\tau/4\tau Z/6\tau$, and similarly for $W^{+*} \to H^+h_1 \to 3\tau/4\tau W^+$ could be pursued. $W^{+*} \to H^+h_2$ is also possible, although typically it will decay to a more complicated final state. Estimates of the sensitivity of such searches in the Type X model were recently published in ref. [109]. The Z^* channel can also be exploited at a lepton collider, particularly at the ILC which, with an energy of 500 GeV or 1 TeV could kinematically access a large part of the interesting parameter space.

7 Summary and conclusions

In this work we have explored the viable parameter space of the CP-conserving A2HDM, outlined in section 2, which can account for the observed value of Δa_{μ} . As studied in great detail in section 3, the model is significantly constrained by experimental measurements of the *T*-parameter, by flavor changing neutral decays $B_s \to \mu^+ \mu^-$ and $b \to s\gamma$, by precision

measurement of the $Z\tau\bar{\tau}$ coupling and τ decays, by the measured production and decay channels for the SM-like Higgs boson, and by LHC searches for exotic Higgs decays. We find in section 4 that it is possible to satisfy all our requirements in certain parameter regions with characteristic features of the new Higgs bosons. Our results can be summarized as follows:

- There are three distinctive mass regions that are viable as given in eq. (4.4). These are distinguished by the mass values of H and A and by their dominant contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$, as illustrated in figure 1.
- The Yukawa couplings of the new scalars to top quarks can play a leading role in generating the necessary enhancement. This in turn allows for a wider range of masses compared to the Type X model, including heavy pseudo-scalars, as well as very light scalars, with $m_H \lesssim 10 \,\text{GeV}$ or $m_A \sim 10 \,\text{GeV}$.
- The new Higgs states all have large couplings to τ 's due to the necessarily large value of A_l . This can have observable effects in precision measurements such as $Z \to \tau \overline{\tau}$, and universality in (semi-)leptonic decays, and it dominates the phenomenology of collider searches (section 5).
- Light new states $(h_1 = A, H)$ decay to tau pairs. Heavier states will typically decay to either a pair h_1h_1 or to h_1Z , although a significant fraction may decay directly to a pair of taus or to tops. Thus, further searches for exotic Higgs decaying to taus or to taus plus Z in the final state can potentially discover the new particles of this model (section 6).
- The leading production at the LHC may still be associated with the heavy quarks, such as $gg \to H/A$, $b\bar{b} \to H/A$, $gb \to tH^{\pm}$. New particles can also be pair produced through $Z^* \to AH$ and $W^* \to H^+(A/H)$ mainly via gauge interactions. They can be competitive in the search when A/H is light (section 6).
- The obtained solutions above may lead to significant modifications to the SM measurements, such as the deviation of the SM-like Higgs boson couplings, and a new decay channel to 4 taus (section 5.1).
- Current LHC searches have already begun to impact the allowed parameter space and the model is sensitive to future searches.

Our work demonstrates the viability of a much larger class of theory related to the 2HDM, which can explain $(g - 2)_{\mu}$, with the Type X model as a special case within this framework. The model presents interesting coupling patterns, new production channels for both the SM-like Higgs boson and the new states at hadron colliders, and a richer phenomenology at low energies.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Eung Jin Chun and Tomohiro Abe for discussions. This work was supported in part by the U.S. Department of Energy under grant No. DE-FG02-95ER40896, in part by the PITT PACC, and in part by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) grant funded by the Korea government of the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (MEST) (No. 2014R1A1A2057665).

A Calculation of muon g-2

Here we present formulae for the calculation of dominant terms in the new physics contributions to g-2. One loop contributions to Δa_{μ} are given by the following expressions [22, 103]:

$$(\Delta a_{\mu}^{1})^{\text{neutral}} = \sum_{i} \frac{m_{\mu}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}v^{2}m_{h_{i}}^{2}} \left((\text{Re}(y_{L}^{h_{i}}))^{2}F_{H}\left(\frac{m_{\mu}^{2}}{m_{h_{i}}^{2}}\right) + (\text{Im}(y_{L}^{h_{i}}))^{2}F_{A}\left(\frac{m_{\mu}^{2}}{m_{h_{i}}^{2}}\right) \right)$$
$$(\Delta a_{\mu}^{1})^{\text{charged}} = \frac{m_{\mu}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}v^{2}m_{H^{+}}^{2}} |A_{l}|^{2}F_{H^{+}}\left(\frac{m_{\mu}^{2}}{m_{H^{+}}^{2}}\right)$$
(A.1)

where i runs over the neutral Higgs eigenstates. The relevant functions are:

$$F_H(z) = \int_0^1 dx \frac{x^2(2-x)}{zx^2-x+1}, \quad F_A(z) = \int_0^1 dx \frac{-x^3}{zx^2-x+1}, \quad F_{H^+}(z) = \int_0^1 dx \frac{-x^2(1-x)}{zx^2+(1-z)x}$$

The coupling of a neutral Higgs to fermions of a given type $f = t, b, \tau$ is determined by

$$y_f^{h_i} = R_{i1} + (R_{i2} \pm iR_{i3})(A_{d,l(u)}).$$
(A.2)

with the negative sign applying for up-type quarks.

The two loop contributions to Δa_{μ} from Barr-Zee diagrams with a photon and a neutral Higgs are given by [104]

$$(\Delta a_{\mu}^{2}) = \sum_{f,i} \frac{N_{c}^{f} \alpha_{em} m_{\mu}^{2} Q_{f}^{2}}{4\pi^{3} v^{2}} \left(\operatorname{Im}(y_{L}^{h_{i}}) \operatorname{Im}(y_{f}^{h_{i}}) G\left(\frac{m_{f}^{2}}{m_{h_{i}}^{2}}\right) - \operatorname{Re}(y_{L}^{h_{i}}) \operatorname{Re}(y_{f}^{h_{i}}) F\left(\frac{m_{f}^{2}}{m_{h_{i}}^{2}}\right) \right),$$
(A.3)

where N_c^f is the number of colors and Q_f the charge of the fermion f in the loop. The functions G(z) and F(z) are defined as:

$$G(z) = \frac{z}{2} \int_0^1 dx \frac{1}{x(1-x)-z} \ln \frac{x(1-x)}{z}, \quad F(z) = \frac{z}{2} \int_0^1 dx \frac{1-2x(1-x)}{x(1-x)-z} \ln \frac{x(1-x)}{z}.$$
(A.4)

Additional charged Higgs contributions are detailed in ref. [106].

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the standard model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].
- [2] CMS collaboration, Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [3] ATLAS collaboration, Combined search for the standard model Higgs boson in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$ with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 032003 [arXiv:1207.0319] [INSPIRE].
- [4] CMS collaboration, Combined results of searches for the standard model Higgs boson in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$, Phys. Lett. B 710 (2012) 26 [arXiv:1202.1488] [INSPIRE].
- [5] T. Aoyama, M. Hayakawa, T. Kinoshita and M. Nio, Complete tenth-order QED contribution to the muon g 2, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 111808 [arXiv:1205.5370]
 [INSPIRE].
- [6] A. Czarnecki, W.J. Marciano and A. Vainshtein, Refinements in electroweak contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 073006 [Erratum ibid. D 73 (2006) 119901] [hep-ph/0212229] [INSPIRE].
- [7] F. Jegerlehner and A. Nyffeler, The muon g 2, Phys. Rept. 477 (2009) 1 [arXiv:0902.3360] [INSPIRE].
- [8] K. Melnikov and A. Vainshtein, Theory of the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Springer Tracts Mod. Phys. 216 (2006) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [9] M. Davier and W.J. Marciano, The theoretical prediction for the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 54 (2004) 115 [INSPIRE].
- [10] M. Passera, The standard model prediction of the muon anomalous magnetic moment, J. Phys. G 31 (2005) R75 [hep-ph/0411168] [INSPIRE].
- M. Knecht, The anomalous magnetic moment of the muon: a theoretical introduction, Lect. Notes Phys. 629 (2004) 37 [hep-ph/0307239] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Czarnecki, B. Krause and W.J. Marciano, Electroweak corrections to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 (1996) 3267 [hep-ph/9512369] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Peris, M. Perrottet and E. de Rafael, Two loop electroweak corrections to the muon g-2: a new class of hadronic contributions, Phys. Lett. B 355 (1995) 523 [hep-ph/9505405]
 [INSPIRE].
- [14] A. Czarnecki, B. Krause and W.J. Marciano, Electroweak fermion loop contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 2619 [hep-ph/9506256]
 [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Gnendiger, D. Stöckinger and H. Stöckinger-Kim, The electroweak contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ after the Higgs boson mass measurement, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 053005 [arXiv:1306.5546] [INSPIRE].
- [16] MUON G-2 collaboration, G.W. Bennett et al., Final report of the muon E821 anomalous magnetic moment measurement at BNL, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 072003 [hep-ex/0602035]
 [INSPIRE].

- [17] K. Hagiwara, R. Liao, A.D. Martin, D. Nomura and T. Teubner, $(g-2)_{\mu}$ and $\alpha(M_Z^2)$ re-evaluated using new precise data, J. Phys. G 38 (2011) 085003 [arXiv:1105.3149] [INSPIRE].
- [18] M. Davier, A. Hoecker, B. Malaescu and Z. Zhang, Reevaluation of the hadronic contributions to the muon g - 2 and to α(M_Z²), Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1515 [Erratum ibid. C 72 (2012) 1874] [arXiv:1010.4180] [INSPIRE].
- [19] M. Benayoun, P. David, L. DelBuono and F. Jegerlehner, An update of the HLS estimate of the muon g - 2, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2453 [arXiv:1210.7184] [INSPIRE].
- [20] T. Blum et al., The muon (g-2) theory value: present and future, arXiv:1311.2198 [INSPIRE].
- M. Benayoun, P. David, L. DelBuono and F. Jegerlehner, Muon g 2 estimates: can one trust effective Lagrangians and global fits?, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 613
 [arXiv:1507.02943] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Dedes and H.E. Haber, Can the Higgs sector contribute significantly to the muon anomalous magnetic moment?, JHEP 05 (2001) 006 [hep-ph/0102297] [INSPIRE].
- [23] J. Cao, P. Wan, L. Wu and J.M. Yang, Lepton-specific two-Higgs doublet model: experimental constraints and implication on Higgs phenomenology, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 071701 [arXiv:0909.5148] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Broggio, E.J. Chun, M. Passera, K.M. Patel and S.K. Vempati, *Limiting two-Higgs-doublet models*, *JHEP* 11 (2014) 058 [arXiv:1409.3199] [INSPIRE].
- [25] L. Wang and X.-F. Han, A light pseudoscalar of 2HDM confronted with muon g 2 and experimental constraints, JHEP 05 (2015) 039 [arXiv:1412.4874] [INSPIRE].
- [26] T. Abe, R. Sato and K. Yagyu, Lepton-specific two Higgs doublet model as a solution of muon g - 2 anomaly, JHEP 07 (2015) 064 [arXiv:1504.07059] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Hektor, K. Kannike and L. Marzola, Muon g 2 and galactic centre γ -ray excess in a scalar extension of the 2HDM type-X, JCAP 10 (2015) 025 [arXiv:1507.05096] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Crivellin, J. Heeck and P. Stoffer, A perturbed lepton-specific two-Higgs-doublet model facing experimental hints for physics beyond the standard model, arXiv:1507.07567 [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Czarnecki and W.J. Marciano, The muon anomalous magnetic moment: a Harbinger for 'new physics', Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 013014 [hep-ph/0102122] [INSPIRE].
- [30] H.E. Haber, G.L. Kane and T. Sterling, The fermion mass scale and possible effects of Higgs bosons on experimental observables, Nucl. Phys. B 161 (1979) 493 [INSPIRE].
- [31] V.D. Barger, J.L. Hewett and R.J.N. Phillips, New constraints on the charged Higgs sector in two Higgs doublet models, Phys. Rev. D 41 (1990) 3421 [INSPIRE].
- [32] Y. Grossman, Phenomenology of models with more than two Higgs doublets, Nucl. Phys. B
 426 (1994) 355 [hep-ph/9401311] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A.G. Akeroyd and W.J. Stirling, Light charged Higgs scalars at high-energy e⁺e⁻ colliders, Nucl. Phys. B 447 (1995) 3 [INSPIRE].
- [34] A.G. Akeroyd, Nonminimal neutral Higgs bosons at LEP-2, Phys. Lett. B 377 (1996) 95 [hep-ph/9603445] [INSPIRE].

- [35] A.G. Akeroyd, Fermiophobic and other nonminimal neutral Higgs bosons at the LHC, J. Phys. G 24 (1998) 1983 [hep-ph/9803324] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J.F. Gunion, H.E. Haber, G.L. Kane and S. Dawson, The Higgs hunter's guide, Front. Phys. 80 (2000) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [37] G.C. Branco, P.M. Ferreira, L. Lavoura, M.N. Rebelo, M. Sher and J.P. Silva, *Theory and phenomenology of two-Higgs-doublet models*, *Phys. Rept.* **516** (2012) 1 [arXiv:1106.0034] [INSPIRE].
- [38] C.-Y. Chen, S. Dawson and Y. Zhang, Complementarity of LHC and EDMs for exploring Higgs CP-violation, JHEP 06 (2015) 056 [arXiv:1503.01114] [INSPIRE].
- [39] P.S. Bhupal Dev and A. Pilaftsis, Maximally symmetric two Higgs doublet model with natural standard model alignment, JHEP 12 (2014) 024 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2015) 147] [arXiv:1408.3405] [INSPIRE].
- [40] P.S.B. Dev and A. Pilaftsis, Natural standard model alignment in the two Higgs doublet model, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 631 (2015) 012030 [arXiv:1503.09140] [INSPIRE].
- [41] A. Pich and P. Tuzon, Yukawa alignment in the two-Higgs-doublet model, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 091702 [arXiv:0908.1554] [INSPIRE].
- [42] M. Jung, A. Pich and P. Tuzon, Charged-Higgs phenomenology in the aligned two-Higgs-doublet model, JHEP 11 (2010) 003 [arXiv:1006.0470] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Davidson and H.E. Haber, Basis-independent methods for the two-Higgs-doublet model, *Phys. Rev.* D 72 (2005) 035004 [Erratum ibid. D 72 (2005) 099902] [hep-ph/0504050] [INSPIRE].
- [44] H.E. Haber and D. O'Neil, Basis-independent methods for the two-Higgs-doublet model. II. The significance of $\tan \beta$, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 015018 [hep-ph/0602242] [INSPIRE].
- [45] H. Georgi and D.V. Nanopoulos, Suppression of flavor changing effects from neutral spinless meson exchange in gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 82 (1979) 95 [INSPIRE].
- [46] J.F. Donoghue and L.F. Li, Properties of charged Higgs bosons, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 945 [INSPIRE].
- [47] L. Lavoura and J.P. Silva, Fundamental CP-violating quantities in a SU(2) × U(1) model with many Higgs doublets, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 4619 [hep-ph/9404276] [INSPIRE].
- [48] L. Lavoura, Signatures of discrete symmetries in the scalar sector, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 7089 [hep-ph/9405307] [INSPIRE].
- [49] F.J. Botella and J.P. Silva, Jarlskog-like invariants for theories with scalars and fermions, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 3870 [hep-ph/9411288] [INSPIRE].
- [50] H.E. Haber and D. O'Neil, Basis-independent methods for the two-Higgs-doublet model III: the CP-conserving limit, custodial symmetry and the oblique parameters S, T, U, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 055017 [arXiv:1011.6188] [INSPIRE].
- [51] P.H. Chankowski, T. Farris, B. Grzadkowski, J.F. Gunion, J. Kalinowski and M. Krawczyk, Do precision electroweak constraints guarantee e⁺e⁻ collider discovery of at least one Higgs boson of a two Higgs doublet model?, Phys. Lett. B 496 (2000) 195 [hep-ph/0009271] [INSPIRE].
- [52] J.F. Gunion and H.E. Haber, The CP conserving two Higgs doublet model: the approach to the decoupling limit, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 075019 [hep-ph/0207010] [INSPIRE].

- [53] I.F. Ginzburg and M. Krawczyk, Symmetries of two Higgs doublet model and CP-violation, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 115013 [hep-ph/0408011] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Chang, S.K. Kang, J.-P. Lee, K.Y. Lee, S.C. Park and J. Song, *Two Higgs doublet models* for the LHC Higgs boson data at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, JHEP **09** (2014) 101 [arXiv:1310.3374] [INSPIRE].
- [55] M. Carena, I. Low, N.R. Shah and C.E.M. Wagner, Impersonating the standard model Higgs boson: alignment without decoupling, JHEP 04 (2014) 015 [arXiv:1310.2248] [INSPIRE].
- [56] G. D'Ambrosio, G.F. Giudice, G. Isidori and A. Strumia, *Minimal flavor violation: an effective field theory approach*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 645 (2002) 155 [hep-ph/0207036] [INSPIRE].
- [57] F.J. Botella, G.C. Branco and M.N. Rebelo, Minimal flavour violation and multi-Higgs models, Phys. Lett. B 687 (2010) 194 [arXiv:0911.1753] [INSPIRE].
- [58] T. Han, S.K. Kang and J. Sayre, in preparation.
- [59] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, K.A. Olive et al., Review of particle physics, Chin. Phys. C 38 (2014) 090001 [INSPIRE].
- [60] P. Bechtle et al., HiggsBounds-4: improved tests of extended Higgs sectors against exclusion bounds from LEP, the Tevatron and the LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 74 (2014) 2693
 [arXiv:1311.0055] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M.E. Peskin and T. Takeuchi, A new constraint on a strongly interacting Higgs sector, Phys. Rev. Lett. 65 (1990) 964 [INSPIRE].
- [62] SLD ELECTROWEAK GROUP, DELPHI, ALEPH, SLD, SLD HEAVY FLAVOUR GROUP, OPAL, LEP ELECTROWEAK WORKING GROUP and L3 collaborations, S. Schael et al., *Precision electroweak measurements on the Z resonance*, *Phys. Rept.* 427 (2006) 257 [hep-ex/0509008] [INSPIRE].
- [63] H.E. Logan, Radiative corrections to the Zbb vertex and constraints on extended Higgs sectors, hep-ph/9906332 [INSPIRE].
- [64] O. Deschamps, S. Descotes-Genon, S. Monteil, V. Niess, S. T'Jampens and V. Tisserand, The two Higgs doublet of type II facing flavour physics data, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 073012 [arXiv:0907.5135] [INSPIRE].
- [65] F. Mahmoudi and O. Stal, Flavor constraints on the two-Higgs-doublet model with general Yukawa couplings, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 035016 [arXiv:0907.1791] [INSPIRE].
- [66] K. Cheung and O.C.W. Kong, Can the two Higgs doublet model survive the constraint from the muon anomalous magnetic moment as suggested?, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 053003 [hep-ph/0302111] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Wahab El Kaffas, P. Osland and O.M. Ogreid, Constraining the two-Higgs-doublet-model parameter space, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 095001 [arXiv:0706.2997] [INSPIRE].
- [68] H. Flacher, M. Goebel, J. Haller, A. Hocker, K. Monig and J. Stelzer, Revisiting the global electroweak fit of the standard model and beyond with Gfitter, Eur. Phys. J. C 60 (2009) 543 [Erratum ibid. C 71 (2011) 1718] [arXiv:0811.0009] [INSPIRE].
- [69] O. Deschamps, S. Descotes-Genon, S. Monteil, V. Niess, S. T'Jampens and V. Tisserand, The two Higgs doublet of type II facing flavour physics data, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 073012 [arXiv:0907.5135] [INSPIRE].

- [70] UTFIT collaboration, M. Bona et al., An improved standard model prediction of $BR(B \to \tau \nu)$ and its implications for new physics, Phys. Lett. **B** 687 (2010) 61 [arXiv:0908.3470] [INSPIRE].
- [71] F. Mahmoudi and O. Stal, Flavor constraints on the two-Higgs-doublet model with general Yukawa couplings, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 035016 [arXiv:0907.1791] [INSPIRE].
- [72] M. Jung, A. Pich and P. Tuzon, The $B \to X_s \gamma$ rate and CP asymmetry within the aligned two-Higgs-doublet model, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 074011 [arXiv:1011.5154] [INSPIRE].
- [73] M. Ciuchini, G. Degrassi, P. Gambino and G.F. Giudice, Next-to-leading QCD corrections to B → X_sγ: standard model and two Higgs doublet model, Nucl. Phys. B 527 (1998) 21 [hep-ph/9710335] [INSPIRE].
- [74] M. Misiak and M. Steinhauser, NNLO QCD corrections to the $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ matrix elements using interpolation in m_c , Nucl. Phys. B 764 (2007) 62 [hep-ph/0609241] [INSPIRE].
- [75] T. Hermann, M. Misiak and M. Steinhauser, $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ in the two Higgs doublet model up to next-to-next-to-leading order in QCD, JHEP 11 (2012) 036 [arXiv:1208.2788] [INSPIRE].
- [76] X.-Q. Li, J. Lu and A. Pich, $B_{s,d}^0 \rightarrow \ell^+ \ell^-$ decays in the aligned two-Higgs-doublet model, JHEP 06 (2014) 022 [arXiv:1404.5865] [INSPIRE].
- [77] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of the $B_s^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-$ branching fraction and search for $B^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-$ decays at the LHCb experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111** (2013) 101805 [arXiv:1307.5024] [INSPIRE].
- [78] CMS collaboration, Measurement of the B_s → μ⁺μ⁻ branching fraction and search for B⁰ → μ⁺μ⁻ with the CMS experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111** (2013) 101804 [arXiv:1307.5025] [INSPIRE].
- [79] HEAVY FLAVOR AVERAGING GROUP (HFAG) collaboration, Y. Amhis et al., Averages of b-hadron, c-hadron and τ -lepton properties as of summer 2014, arXiv:1412.7515 [INSPIRE].
- [80] M. Krawczyk and D. Temes, 2HDM(II) radiative corrections in leptonic τ decays, Eur. Phys. J. C 44 (2005) 435 [hep-ph/0410248] [INSPIRE].
- [81] A. Celis, M. Jung, X.-Q. Li and A. Pich, Sensitivity to charged scalars in $B \to D^{(*)} \tau \nu_{\tau}$ and $B \to \tau \nu_{\tau}$ decays, JHEP **01** (2013) 054 [arXiv:1210.8443] [INSPIRE].
- [82] D. McKeen, Constraining light bosons with radiative $\Upsilon(1S)$ decays, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 015007 [arXiv:0809.4787] [INSPIRE].
- [83] BABAR collaboration, J.P. Lees et al., Search for di-muon decays of a low-mass Higgs boson in radiative decays of the Υ(1S), Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 031102 [arXiv:1210.0287] [INSPIRE].
- [84] BABAR collaboration, B. Aubert et al., Search for a low-mass Higgs boson in $\Upsilon(3S) \to \gamma A^0$, $A^0 \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ at BABAR, Phys. Rev. Lett. **103** (2009) 181801 [arXiv:0906.2219] [INSPIRE].
- [85] ATLAS collaboration, Measurement of Higgs boson production in the diphoton decay channel in pp collisions at center-of-mass energies of 7 and 8 TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 112015 [arXiv:1408.7084] [INSPIRE].
- [86] CMS collaboration, Observation of the diphoton decay of the Higgs boson and measurement of its properties, Eur. Phys. J. C 74 (2014) 3076 [arXiv:1407.0558] [INSPIRE].

- [87] CMS collaboration, Precise determination of the mass of the Higgs boson and tests of compatibility of its couplings with the standard model predictions using proton collisions at 7 and 8 TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 212 [arXiv:1412.8662] [INSPIRE].
- [88] ATLAS collaboration, Measurements of the properties of the Higgs-like boson in the four lepton decay channel with the ATLAS detector using 25 fb⁻¹ of proton-proton collision data, ATLAS-CONF-2013-013, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2013).
- [89] ATLAS collaboration, Measurements of the properties of the Higgs-like boson in the $WW^{(*)} \rightarrow \ell \nu \ell \nu$ decay channel with the ATLAS detector using 25 fb⁻¹ of proton-proton collision data, ATLAS-CONF-2013-030, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2013).
- [90] CMS collaboration, Measurement of Higgs boson production and properties in the WW decay channel with leptonic final states, JHEP 01 (2014) 096 [arXiv:1312.1129] [INSPIRE].
- [91] ATLAS collaboration, Measurements of Higgs boson production and couplings in the four-lepton channel in pp collisions at center-of-mass energies of 7 and 8 TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 012006 [arXiv:1408.5191] [INSPIRE].
- [92] CMS collaboration, Measurement of the properties of a Higgs boson in the four-lepton final state, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 092007 [arXiv:1312.5353] [INSPIRE].
- [93] ATLAS collaboration, Evidence for the Higgs-boson Yukawa coupling to τ leptons with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 04 (2015) 117 [arXiv:1501.04943] [INSPIRE].
- [94] CMS collaboration, Evidence for the 125 GeV Higgs boson decaying to a pair of τ leptons, JHEP 05 (2014) 104 [arXiv:1401.5041] [INSPIRE].
- [95] ATLAS collaboration, Search for the $b\bar{b}$ decay of the standard model Higgs boson in associated (W/Z)H production with the ATLAS detector, JHEP **01** (2015) 069 [arXiv:1409.6212] [INSPIRE].
- [96] CMS collaboration, Search for the standard model Higgs boson produced in association with a W or a Z boson and decaying to bottom quarks, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 012003
 [arXiv:1310.3687] [INSPIRE].
- [97] D. Curtin et al., Exotic decays of the 125 GeV Higgs boson, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 075004
 [arXiv:1312.4992] [INSPIRE].
- [98] CMS collaboration, Search for Higgs decays to new light bosons in boosted τ final states, CMS-PAS-HIG-14-022, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2014).
- [99] ATLAS collaboration, Search for Higgs bosons decaying to aa in the $\mu\mu\tau\tau$ final state in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the ATLAS experiment, Phys. Rev. **D** 92 (2015) 052002 [arXiv:1505.01609] [INSPIRE].
- [100] CMS collaboration, A search for pair production of new light bosons decaying into muons, Phys. Lett. B 752 (2016) 146 [arXiv:1506.00424] [INSPIRE].
- [101] CMS collaboration, Search for additional neutral Higgs bosons decaying to a pair of τ leptons in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, CMS-PAS-HIG-14-029, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2014).
- [102] CMS collaboration, Search for H/A decaying into Z + A/H, with $Z \to \ell \ell$ and A/H to fermion pair, CMS-PAS-HIG-15-001, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2015).
- [103] M. Krawczyk and J. Zochowski, Constraining 2HDM by present and future muon (g 2) data, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 6968 [hep-ph/9608321] [INSPIRE].

- [104] K. Cheung and O.C.W. Kong, Can the two Higgs doublet model survive the constraint from the muon anomalous magnetic moment as suggested?, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 053003
 [hep-ph/0302111] [INSPIRE].
- [105] S.M. Barr and A. Zee, Electric dipole moment of the electron and of the neutron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 65 (1990) 21 [Erratum ibid. 65 (1990) 2920] [INSPIRE].
- [106] V. Ilisie, New Barr-Zee contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ in two-Higgs-doublet models, JHEP 04 (2015) 077 [arXiv:1502.04199] [INSPIRE].
- [107] MUON G-2 collaboration, J. Grange et al., Muon (g-2) technical design report, arXiv:1501.06858 [INSPIRE].
- [108] CMS collaboration, Search for neutral MSSM Higgs bosons decaying to a pair of τ leptons in pp collisions, JHEP 10 (2014) 160 [arXiv:1408.3316] [INSPIRE].
- [109] E.J. Chun, Z. Kang, M. Takeuchi and Y.-L.S. Tsai, *LHC* τ -rich tests of lepton-specific 2HDM for $(g-2)_{\mu}$, JHEP 11 (2015) 099 [arXiv:1507.08067] [INSPIRE].